### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1816

LT Number 2DO4-896

LUMBERMENS MUTUAL CASUALTY COMPANY, an Illinois Corporation, Petitioner,

v.

RYAN INCORPORATED EASTERN, a Florida Corporation, and HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a Connecticut Corporation,

Respondents.

### INITIAL BRIEF OF LUMBERMENS MUTUAL CASUALTY COMPANY

# Respectfully submitted,

Janelle K. Christensen TRESSLER, SODERSTROM, **MALONEY & PRIESS** 233 S. Wacker Drive, 22<sup>nd</sup> Floor **Sears Tower** Chicago, IL 60606 (312) 627-4056 (312 627-1717 (Fax) Attorneys for Petitioner Lumbermens Co-Counsel for Lumbermens Mutual Mutual Casualty Company

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### A. Overview

This case comes before this Court from a decision rendered by the Florida Second District Court of Appeal involving Florida Statute §627.428 and whether a Surety may recover its attorneys' fees and costs for bringing a declaratory judgment action against its Principal's Commercial General Liability carriers. The Second District believed that a Surety stands in the shoes of the Principal, such that the Surety qualifies as a First Party Claimant under the Principal's Commercial General Liability policies; and, as a First Party Claimant standing in the shoes of the Principal, the Surety is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees under Florida Statute §627.428, conditioned upon the ultimate entry of judgment in favor of the Principal's Surety on remand. Because the Second District held that its decision is in direct conflict with the portion of the First District's decision in Western World Insurance Company v. The Travelers Indemnity Company, 358 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) that denies an award of appellate attorneys' fees to a Surety under comparable facts, the Second District certified the question to this Court. A copy of the Second District's decision is attached hereto. (App. 1 pp. 1-7).

### **B.** Statement of the Facts

### **The Underlying Construction Contract and Related Bonds**

In November of 2000, Ryan entered into a contract with 951 Land Holdings, Ltd. ("951 Land Holdings"), for the construction of a golf course in Naples. Ryan was to build the golf course known as "Fiddler's Creek", on property owned by 951 Land Holdings.<sup>1</sup> (RII: 153-163).

Ryan, as general contractor and Principal, and Hartford, as Surety, (hereinafter "the Surety") made, executed and delivered to 951 Land Holdings, as Owner, performance and payment bonds in December 2000. (RII: 259-262; App 2 pp. 8-11). The parties had previously executed a General Indemnity Agreement ("GIA"), dated August 1, 1994. (App 3 pp. 12-17).

### The Commercial General Liability Policies

Continental issued a commercial general liability policy (hereinafter "CGL policy") to Ryan, as insured. (RII: 17-102). Lumbermens issued an excess CGL policy to Ryan, as insured. (RII:104).

## **The Underlying Litigation**

951 Land Holdings brought suit against Ryan and its surety (Hartford) alleging that the Tifsport grass supplied by Ryan's subcontractor, Tifton Turf, was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the Record on Appeal are cited in the following format: (R [Volume Number]:[Page Number]). References to the Appendix which is submitted under separate cover, are cited in the following format: (App [Tab][Page Number]).

contaminated with other grasses and/or weeds. (RII:145-151) The case was settled at mediation.

### C. Statement of the Case – the Proceedings to Date

Following the resolution of the underlying matter, the Surety filed a declaratory judgment action against Continental and Lumbermens in Collier County. (RII: 300-349) The Surety sought reimbursement for defense and indemnity costs from the CGL carriers for resolution of the suit brought by 951 Land Holdings. (Id.) The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (The Surety's Motion and Memorandum RV:859-861, RVI:959-1099, & RVII:1100-1153; Continental's Motion and Memorandum at RVII:163-1299, RVIII: 1300-1414, & RIX 1415-1587; and, Lumbermens Motion and Memorandum at RIX:1599-1615). The trial court determined that summary judgment should be granted in favor of Continental Casualty and Lumbermens. (RIX:1637-1638). The trial court thereupon entered final judgment in favor of Continental Casualty Company and Lumbermens Mutual Casualty Company. (Id.)

The Surety noticed its appeal to the Second District. As part of the appeal, the Surety filed a Motion for Attorneys' fees, seeking in part, its costs and fees associated with filing the declaratory judgment. (App. 4 pp. 18-25) Lumbermens filed a response to the Motion for Attorneys' Fees (App. 5 pp. 19-28).

On appeal, the Second District reversed the summary judgment in favor of the CGL carriers and remanded the case back to the trial court. (App 1, pp. 1-7). With respect to the Motion for Attorneys' fees and application of Florida Statute §627.428, the Second District held that its decision that the Surety is entitled to attorneys' fees under the Statute conflicted with the portion of the First District's decision in *Western World Insurance Company v. The Travelers Indemnity Company*, 358 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), that denies an award of appellate attorneys' fees to a Surety under comparable facts. (*Id.*) Because of the conflict, the Second District certified the question to this Court.

This Court entered an order postponing a decision on jurisdiction, and setting a schedule for briefing on the merits (*See* Order of this Court dated November 18, 2005). This initial merits brief on behalf of Petitioner, Lumbermens Mutual Casualty Company is submitted accordingly.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

It is undisputed that a Surety qualifies as an insurer under Florida law. It is further undisputed that on its face, Florida Statute §627.428 provides that only an <u>insured</u> and its beneficiaries may seek attorneys' fees and costs in successfully prosecuting a declaratory judgment action against its insurer. While there is a line of Florida case law that allows assignees of an insured to seek relief under the Statute, there is no evidence before this Court that the Surety is an assignee of its Principal, Ryan.

The relationship between the Surety and its Principal is governed by contract, in this case, in the form of a Surety Bond and a General Indemnity Agreement. These contracts provide the Surety with a right of indemnification from its Principal. Thus, to the extent that the Principal may be entitled to defense or indemnity from its CGL carriers, for a claim paid by the Surety, the CGL policies may create a fund to which the Surety has a subrogated interest. However, the Surety's right of subrogation is limited to the extent of performance of payment. Significantly, the Surety has no direct interest under the CGL policies. Thus, the Surety's subrogated interest in payment is not the equivalent of the Surety having insured status under a CGL policy.

Although the Second District believed that the Surety qualifies as a First Party Claimant under the CGL policies, close review of the Second District's

decision and the cases upon which it relied, offer no support for this contention. Instead, the better-reasoned decisions, and the decisions that track this Court's holding in *Transamerican Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County*, 540 So.2d 113 (Fla. 1989) regarding the relationship between the Surety and its Principal, are *Western World Insurance Company v. The Travelers Indemnity Company*, 358 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) and *American Home Assurance Company v. City of Opa Locka*, 368 So.2d 416 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1979).

These cases recognize that while the Surety has a subrogated interest in the potential fund created by the CGL policy, that interest is limited to the extent of payment. These cases recognize that a subrogated interest does not transform a Surety from its status as an insurer to an insured. Rather, when a Surety has a subrogated interest, that interest is in the form of an insurer seeking coverage from another insurer. Under the clear language of the Statute, an insurer is not entitled to attorneys' fees in bringing a declaratory judgment action against another insurer.

This matter is merely a dispute between two insurance companies as to which party owed Ryan defense and indemnity and as such, under clear Florida precedent, the Surety is not entitled to fees and costs under Florida Statute §627.428.

### ARGUMENT

# Florida Statute §627.428 is a Derogation of the Common Law, and as such, must be Strictly Construed

Under Florida law, each party generally bears it own attorneys' fees, unless a contract or statute provides otherwise. *Pepper's Steel & Alloys, Inc. v. United States of America*, 850 So.2d 462, 465 (Fla. 2003).

The Florida Legislature enacted Florida Statute §627.428 to allow an insured to recover its attorneys' fees from its insurer under certain circumstances. The Statute provides in relevant part:

(1) Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state <u>against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured</u>, or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had. (emphasis added).

On its face, the Statute only affords relief on behalf of the insured against its insurer. "The Statute is a one-way street offering the potential for attorneys' fees only to the insured or beneficiary." *Danis Industries Corporation v. Ground Improvement Techniques*, 645 So.2d 420 (Fla. 1994). The Statute prohibits recovery by the insurance company if it prevails. *McCarthy Brothers Company v. Tilbury Construction Inc.*, 849 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) and *Smith v. Conlon*, 355 So.2d 859, 860 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1978).

The purpose of Florida Statute §627.428 is to discourage insurance companies from contesting valid claims, and to reimburse insureds for their attorneys' fees incurred when they must enforce in court their contract with the insurance company. *Insurance Company of North America v. Lexow*, 602 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1992); *Danis Industries Corporation v. Ground Improvement Techniques*, 645 So.2d 420 (Fla. 1994); *Pepper's Steel & Alloys, Inc. v. United States of America*, 850 So.2d 462 (Fla. 2003). Because the Statute is in derogation of the common law, it must strictly construed. *Family Care Center, P.A. v. Truck Insurance Exchange*, 875 So.2d 750, (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA, 2004)(citing to *Pepper's Steel & Alloys, Inc. v. United States of America*, 850 So.2d 462 (Fla. 2003).

# A Surety Qualifies as an Insurer under Florida Statute §627.428 and, therefore, a Surety is not Entitled to Collect Fees Under the Statute

The term "insurer" is clearly defined under the Florida Insurance Code to include a "Surety." *Nichols v. Preferred National Insurance Company*, 704 So.2d 1371, 1373 (Fla. 1998); *David Boland Incorporated v. Trans Coastal Roofing Company*, 851 So.2d 724 (Fla. 2003). In *Danis Industries Corporation v. Ground Improvement Techniques*, 645 So.2d 420 (Fla. 1994) this Court held that Florida Statute §627.428, "specifically applies to payment or performance bonds written by a Surety insurer to indemnify against losses associated with construction projects." As part of this decision, the Court clarified that the Surety does not have the right to collect its attorneys' fees under Florida Statute §627.428. *Id.* at 421.

In the *Danis* litigation, 645 So.2d 420 (Fla. 1994), a sub-contractor sued the general contractor and its Surety over a construction dispute. The sub-contractor prevailed on some, but not all, of its claims against the Surety. The trial court permitted the sub-contractor to recover its attorneys' fees from the Surety. On appeal, the Surety argued that it was also a prevailing party, and, therefore, it was entitled to collect its fees from the subcontractor under Florida Statute §627.428. This Court held that the Surety could not collect its fees under the statute: "Under the present Statute, an insured or beneficiary who prevails is entitled to attorneys' fees. The Statute offers no similar prospect to the Surety, nor does the Statute say that the fees will be unavailable if the Surety prevails on some, but not all of the issues." *Id.* at 421.

# Where a Declaratory Judgment Action Qualifies as a Dispute Between Two Insurance Companies, Florida Statute §627.428 is Inapplicable

When determining whether fees may be awarded under §627.428, the court will closely examine the relationship between the parties to determine whether the dispute was an action between two insurance companies, rather than between an insured and an insurer. *Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v. Tropical Shipping and Construction Co. Ltd.*, 254 F.3d 987, 1009 (Fla. 11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) and *Utica Mutual Insurance Company v. Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company*, 639 So.2d 41 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994). Where the declaratory judgment action is a dispute between insurers, attorneys' fees are not recoverable.

Associated Electric and Gas Insurance Service, Ltd. v. Ranger Insurance Company, 560 So.2d 242, 243 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1990); Smith v Conlon, 355 So.2d 859 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1978).

In *Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v. Tropical Shipping and Construction Co., Ltd.*, 254 F.3d 987, 1009 (Fla. 11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001), the court held that it must strictly construe §627.428 because the Statute is in the nature of a penalty against an insurer who wrongfully refuses to pay a legitimate claim. In examining the relationship between the parties in that litigation, the court was persuaded that although the action was brought in the name of the insured, the real party in interest was the insurance company that paid the loss (Fireman's Fund), which was looking to pass the loss on to another insurer of the insured (Seven Seas.) The court was persuaded that the action was solely between two insurers, and, therefore, §627.428 was not applicable.

# An Insurer's Right to Indemnification by another Insurer does not Equate to a Right to Attorneys' Fees under §627.428

Under Florida law, the general rule is that attorneys' fees incurred in the defense of a claim indemnified against are part of the damages allowable, but attorneys' fees incurred by one insurance company in establishing the right to indemnification from another insurance company are not allowable. *Snider v. Continental Insurance*, 519 So.2d 12, 13 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1988). Similarly, in *Continental Casualty Company v. City of South Daytona*, 807 So.2d 91 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup>

DCA 2002) where the City of Daytona and its Insurer, Nutmeg Insurance Company, filed a declaratory judgment action another insurer, Continental Casualty Company, the court held that neither the City nor its insurer, Nutmeg were entitled to attorneys' fees for establishing the right to indemnification.

Likewise, in Western World Insurance Company v. The Travelers Indemnity Company, 358 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), the court held that where the Surety may be indemnified from its Principal for a judgment which the Surety paid to a third party on behalf of the Principal, the Surety has the right to be subrogated to any rights which its Principal has against the Principal's insurance carrier. However, the court held that despite its right of subrogation, the Surety has no right to recover attorneys' fees under §627.428 because the Surety is, "neither an insured nor a named insured, as contemplated by §627.428, Florida Statutes (1975) entitling it to a fee."

Florida case law recognizes that while a Surety may have contractual and subrogation rights, those rights do not transform a Surety into an "insured" under Florida Statute §627.428 such that the party is entitled to attorneys' fees for bringing a declaratory judgment. *American Home Assurance Company v. City of Opa Locka*, 368 So.2d 416 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1979).

In the *Opa Locka* decision, *supra*, the City of Opa Locka and one of its police officers were sued in a wrongful death action arising out of an incident in

which the officer shot and killed a man. Travelers insured the City of Opa Locka. The officer was not an insured under the Travelers policy, instead, he carried a separate policy through American Home. Travelers defended both the City and the officer, despite the fact the officer was not an insured under its policy. American Home declined to participate. The case went to verdict with the jury finding in favor of the decedent's estate. Travelers satisfied the judgment after American Home refused to contribute. Travelers filed a declaratory judgment action against American Home seeking reimbursement of judgment, costs and attorneys' fees. The trial court awarded Travelers all of the above, including Travelers' attorneys' fees in bringing the declaratory judgment action.

The appellate court reversed the trial court. The appellate court agreed that Opa Locka's liability was based solely upon vicarious liability and thus, Opa Locka had a right to indemnification from the officer for the wrongful death judgment and his carrier, American Home. The court further held that Travelers, the party that expended the sums to protect Opa Locka, was the City's subrogee and was likewise entitled to recovery. The court held that Travelers became subrogated to the Officer's rights to recover from American Home the fees and costs due him because of its wrongful refusal to defend.

Nevertheless, despite the foregoing factors, the appellate court refused to allow Travelers to recover the fees and costs associated with bringing the declaratory judgment action. The court held:

What we have already said, however, shows that his case was not brought "under" American Home's policy with Opa Locka, but was rather based upon the City's and Travelers' indemnity and subrogated rights against American, as the insurer for LeMeur. **The plaintiff's fees are therefore not recoverable under Section 627.428.** 

Furthermore, although Opa Locka was a nominal party plaintiff, the judgment in this case clearly inured entirely to the benefit of Travelers which was not entitled to fees under *Roberts v. Carter*, 350 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1977). [The appellate court noted that Travelers did not secure an assignment from the City or Le Meur with respect to their rights against American Home.] *American Home Assurance Company v. City of Opa Locka*, 368 So.2d at 420 (emphasis added).

In summary, the court held that a successful indemnitor may not recover its attorneys' fees for the prosecution of the indemnification action itself without a contractual or statutory basis.

# The Contractual Relationship between the Surety and its Principal, Confers no Rights to the Surety under the CGL Policies

Here, the Second District believed that the Surety "stands in the shoes" of its Principal, and thus, because the Principal may be entitled to fees under Florida Statute §627.428 (if it is the prevailing party) so too is the Surety. The danger, however, in applying a broad catch phase such as "standing in the shoes" to solve a narrow legal issue, is that one can overlook the nature of the agreement between

the parties in the first instance. *Colonia Insurance Company v.*Assuranceforeningen Skuld, 588 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1991).

A review of the agreement/contracts between the parties in this litigation reveals that that Ryan did not assign or otherwise grant the Surety any contractual rights or interests under the insurance policies issued by the CGL carriers to Ryan, and, therefore, did not grant any corresponding right to seek attorneys' fees under the Statute. Specifically, the General Indemnity Agreement entered between the Surety and Ryan provides the following:

#### VII

With respect to any Bond issued on behalf of an Indemnitor, all Indemnitors assign, transfer and convey to the Surety:

- A. All rights of the Indemnitors in arising from or related to such Bonds or any bonded or unbonded contracts or any extension, modifications, alterations or additions thereto:
- B. All right, title and interest of the Indemnitors in and to (1) the work performed, (2) all supplies, tools, plant, machinery, equipment and material on or near work sites or elsewhere, and 3) all material purchased for or chargeable to the contract which may be in the process of manufacture, construction or transportation, or in storage anywhere.

These assignments shall take effect with respect to each Bond as of its execution date, but only in the event of any of the following.

(a) An Indemnitor's abandonment, forfeiture or breach of, or failure, refusal or inability to perform, a contract guaranteed by any Bond;

- (b) An Indemnitor's failure, refusal or inability to pay any bills or satisfy any debts incurred in connection with the performance of a contract guaranteed by any Bond;
- (c) An Indemnitor's failure, refusal or inability to satisfy any condition of any Bond or to comply with any term or provision of this Agreement;
- (d) An Indemnitor's failure to pay when due, any debt owed to the Surety;
- (e) An Indemnitor's assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the appointment of, or the application for the appointment of, a receiver or trustee for any indemnitor whether insolvent or not;
- (f) A proceeding which prevents or interferes with an indemnitor's use of any of the supplies, tools, plant, machinery, equipment or other materials referred to in paragraph B. of this Section;
- (g) The death, absconding, disappearance, incompetency, imprisonment or felony conviction of any Indemnitor.

#### XIV

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