# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# SC05-1816

### LT NO. 2DO4-896

# LUMBERMENS MUTUAL CASUALTY COMPANY, an Illinois corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

# RYAN INCORPORATED EASTERN, a Florida corporation, and HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a Connecticut corporation,

Respondents.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

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

Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co., 227 F. Supp. 2d 1248, 1260 (M.D. Fla. 2002).

#### C. Suretyship and Insurance Distinguished

Unlike a surety, a liability insurer has neither a common law nor contractual right to indemnification from the insured. See Shannon R. Ginn Construction, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 1350; Western World, 358 So. 2d at 604; Dadeland Station Associates, Ltd. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. D 497, 8 (S.D. Fla. 2003). A liability insurer owes a fiduciary and contractual duty to defend and cover its insured. Unlike a liability insurer, a surety has no duty to defend its principal. *Id.* at 1352. In fact, the general indemnity agreement requires the principal to defend and hold harmless the surety from any bond claims. Thus, an insured looks to its insurer for protection, whereas the surety looks to the principal for protection and indemnification. Western World, 358 So. 2d at 604; Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co., 227 F. Supp. 2d 1248, 1260 (M.D. Fla. 2002); 4 BRUNER & O'CONNOR ON CONSTRUCTION LAW § 12.9, n.3 (2005).

The equitable subrogation rights of sureties and insurers also differ. Equitable subrogation is not created by contract, rather it arises as an operation of law and substitutes one person in the place of another with respect to the other's lawful claim or right. *See* RESTATEMENT OF THE LAW (THIRD) OF SURETYSHIP &

GUARANTY § 28 (ALI 1996). A surety's equitable subrogation rights arise once it makes payment on a performance or payment bond. *Transamerica*, 540 So. 2d at 115. In enforcing its equitable right to reimbursement, the surety stands in three sets of shoes. *Id.* First, the surety stands in the shoes of the bond obligee to the extent of performance or payment. Second, the surety stands in the shoes of the shoes in the shoes of the shoes in the shoes of the surety stands in the shoes of the surety stands in the shoes of the shoes of the laborers and materialmen who the surety has paid. *Id.* at 115-16.<sup>8</sup>

Most significant to this case, the <u>surety's</u> equitable subrogation right to receivables due to the principal is not limited to any certain creditor under Florida law. Thus, a surety can stand in the principal's shoes to pursue *any* of the principal's receivables for reimbursement. In this case, the Lumbermens policy proceeds are a receivable due Ryan for its claim arising from a covered loss, assuming certain facts are established on remand to the trial court. Hartford stands in Ryan's shoes in pursuing reimbursement from the Lumbermens policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Additionally, The surety's equitable subrogation rights to receivables or withheld contract funds have priority, even over a creditor bank with a prior perfected security interest, bankruptcy trustees, and government tax liens. *See* FLORIDA CONSTRUCTION LAW AND PRACTICE § 8.79 (citing *Transamerica*, 540 So. 2d at 117 (bank); *Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland v. New York City Housing Authority*, 241 F.2d 142 (2nd Cir. 1957) (tax lien); *Pearlman*, 371 U.S. at 235 (bankruptcy trustee)). As this Court explained in *Transamerica*, "The interests of all concerned parties, whether they be contractors in default, nonsurety assignees, owners, or other obligees, are best served by prompt performance by the surety." *Transamerica*, 540 So. 2d at 117.

In contrast, an <u>insurer's</u> equitable subrogation rights are much more limited under Florida law. An insurer is only equitably subrogated to "any right of action that the insured may have against the third person whose negligence or wrongful act caused the loss." *National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA v. KMPG Peat Marwick*, 742 So. 2d 328, 332 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). The very limited equitable subrogation rights of an insurer are far different in scope and nature than the broad rights of a surety set forth above. Sureties, both in Florida and elsewhere, regularly exercise their far more expansive equitable subrogation rights.

# III. <u>The Policies Behind Section 627.428 Will Not Be Served by</u> Denying Hartford its Attorney's Fees in this Case

Lumbermens argues, overly simplistically, that because Section 627.03 of the Insurance Code includes "surety" within the definition of "insurer," Hartford is therefore an "insurer" for the purposes of Section 627.428, and not entitled to recover its attorney's fees from its fellow "insurer," Lumbermens. Not only is this argument flawed because it ignores the fundamental differences between insurance and suretyship discussed in Section II, above, but also because it totally contradicts the purposes behind the enactment of Section 627.428.

Lumbermens is correct that under Florida case law, Section 627.428 is a "one-way street," allowing insureds, their assignees, and beneficiaries to recover attorney's fees when they prevail against an insurer, but prohibiting recovery by the insurer if it prevails. *See, e.g., McCarthy Brothers Company v. Tilbury* 

Construction, Inc., 849 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); Smith v. Conlon, 355 So. 2d 859, 860 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). According to Florida state and federal courts, the legislative purpose of Section 627.428 is to discourage insurance companies from contesting valid claims, and to reimburse insureds for their attorney's fees incurred when they are compelled to defend or sue to enforce their insurance policies. Danis Industries Corp. v. Ground Improvement Techniques, 645 So. 2d 420, 421 (Fla. 1994); Insurance Company of North America v. Lexow, 602 So. 2d 528, 531 (Fla. 1992); Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v. Tropical Shipping and Construction Co. Ltd., 254 F.3d 987, 1010 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001). The statute penalizes litigious insurers for the wrongful refusal to pay policy proceeds to their insureds. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of U.S. v. Nichols, 84 So. 2d 500, 502 (Fla. 1956); Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Nu-Best Diagnostic labs, Inc., 810 So. 2d 514, 516 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). As set forth below, these statutory purposes would be wholly frustrated by denying Hartford (and for all practical purposes, Ryan) its attorney's fees in this case.

This is not a case in which Hartford is defending a claim for wrongful refusal to pay or perform pursuant to a bond. If Hartford prevailed in that scenario, it would not be entitled to attorney's fees under Section 627.428, because the statute flows only in favor of a prevailing claimant against the bond. *Danis Industries*, 645 So. 2d at 421 (Fla. 1994) (holding that a surety is not entitled to

attorney's fees under Section 627.428 when it prevails against a bond claimant).<sup>9</sup> Hartford is not an "insurer" that is denying coverage under its bonds. On the contrary, Hartford has fully performed and paid its bond obligations.

In this case, Hartford is the claimant against Lumbermens' policy. The issue at trial was whether Lumbermens wrongfully refused to defend and provide coverage to Ryan. The Second District has already ruled that there is coverage under the Lumbermens policy for the damages incurred by Hartford and Ryan, assuming certain facts are established at trial. Once those facts are established, and judgment is entered against Lumbermens, Lumbermens should be liable to Hartford and Ryan for their attorney's fees in this litigation.

The purposes of Section 627.428 are achieved by allowing Hartford, not just Ryan, to recover its attorney's fees as a penalty to Lumbermens for wrongfully

(1) Section 627.428 applies to suits brought by owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen against a surety insurer under payment or performance bonds written by the insurer under the laws of this state to indemnify against pecuniary loss by breach of a building or construction contract. Owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen shall be deemed to be insureds or beneficiaries for the purposes of this Section.

Section 627.756 is further indication that the Florida legislature recognizes the distinctions between sureties and insurers in the Insurance Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Certain bond claimants are entitled to attorney's fees against sureties under Section 627.428. Part XII of the Code is entitled the "Surety Insurance Contract." Part XII includes Section 627.756, which expressly made Section 627.428 applicable to suits *against* sureties by specified bond claimants, as follows:

withholding the proceeds of its policy. Otherwise, Lumbermens will largely escape the statutory penalty, and receive a completely undeserved windfall merely because Hartford has "carried the ball" in this litigation for Ryan.

# IV. <u>Lumbermens' Cases Regarding Actions Between Insurers Are</u> <u>Inapplicable</u>

Lumbermens notes that Section 627.428 is inapplicable to disputes between two insurers over which owes coverage for a loss claimed by a claimant against their respective policies. Lumbermens argues that this case is really a dispute between two insurers, Lumbermens and Hartford; and thus, Florida law bars Hartford from recovering its attorney's fees under Section 627.428. In support, Lumbermens cites the following cases: *Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v. Tropical Shipping and Construction Co. Ltd.*, 254 F.3d 987 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001); *Utica Mutual Insurance Company v. Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company*, 639 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994); *Smith v. Conlon*, 355 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); *Associated Electric and Gas Insurance Surface, Ltd.* v. *Ranger Insurance Company*, 560 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Lumbermens' cases are inapposite to this case.

None of the above cases cited by Lumbermens involves a dispute between a surety and an insurer. As discussed above, this case involves a claim by a named insured (Ryan) and its surety (Hartford) against a liability insurer (Lumbermens). The above cases might be applicable to deciding a dispute between Lumbermens (Ryan's excess insurer) and Continental (Ryan's primary insurer), but have no application at all to this case.

For example, *Utica Mutual* was a dispute between a primary insurer and an excess insurer as to their respective liabilities in a suit brought against their mutual insured. 639 So. 2d at 42. At trial, a jury returned a verdict in favor of the excess insurer. *Id.* The court awarded the excess insurer its attorney's fees pursuant to Section 627.428. *Id.* The Fifth District Court of Appeal of Florida found that the trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees to the excess insurer because the excess insurer did not qualify as "any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer." *Id.* The Fifth District explained that the case was not a subrogation action; rather, the insurers were "simply seeking a declaratory judgment of their respective obligations under the insurance policies." *Id.* 

Unlike Hartford, the excess insurer in *Utica Mutual* did not have any assigned or subrogated rights against the primary insurer. Thus, the excess insurer had no standing under Section 627.428 to recover its attorneys fees, even though it received a judgment against the primary insurer. *See also, Fireman's Fund,* 254 F.3d at 1011 (dispute between two insurers over which owed coverage for their insured's loss, where neither insurer held any assigned or subrogated rights against the other's policy); *Smith,* 355 So. 2d at 859 (same).

In *Associated Electric*, also cited by Lumbermens, an insured brought a declaratory action against its three primary and excess general liability insurers, all of which had denied coverage. 560 So. 2d at 243. The excess insurers contested the primary insurer's denial of coverage, but the trial court found that the primary insurer had rightfully denied coverage. The court awarded the primary insurer its attorney's fees from one of the excess carriers. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the attorney's fee award, holding that under Section 627.428, the primary insurer not did not fall within any of the specified groups entitled to recover fees under Section 627.428; which was limited to the "contracting insured, the insured's estate, specifically named policy beneficiaries, and third parties who claim policy coverage by assignment from the insured." *Id.* 

Unlike the insurers in the above cases, Hartford is not arguing that its bonds do not "cover" Ryan or the obligee, and that the Lumbermens policy does. Hartford's bonds are not insurance policies. Indeed, Hartford has already paid out under its bonds on behalf of Ryan and is now seeking to enforce Ryan's rights to coverage under Lumbermens' policy. As set forth in the next section, Hartford's position in this case is totally different from the positions of the insurers in the cases cited by Lumbermens.

# V. <u>Hartford is Entitled to Recovery of its Attorney's Fees in this</u> Action Because of its Unique Standing as a Surety

Lumbermens apparently concedes, as it must in light of the holdings of the Florida cases on which it relies, that it is liable for Hartford's attorney's fees incurred in defending against the underlying claims brought by the project owner against Ryan and against Hartford on its bonds. However, Lumbermens argues that it is not liable for Hartford's attorney's fees incurred in establishing its right to indemnification from Lumbermens in this action. (IB:11) (citing Snider v. Continental Insurance, 519 So. 2d 12, 13 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); Continental Casualty Company v. City of South Daytona, 807 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); American Home Assur. Co. v. City of Opa Locka, 368 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); Western World, 358 So. 2d at 602. Once again, three of these cases, Snider, City of South Daytona, and Opa Locka involve suits between two insurers, and as explained above, are inapplicable to this case.<sup>10</sup> Unlike those cases, this case is not an action to establish the right to indemnification of one insurer by another insurer.

Furthermore, as three of the above cases have held, the rule that an insurance company may not recover its attorney's fees in establishing its right to indemnification from another insurance company applies only "in absence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Lumbermens also cites *Western World*, 358 So. 2d at 602, which is discussed separately in Section VII, below.

statute or agreement." *See City of South Daytona*, 807 So. 2d at 93 ("[I]n the absence of statute or agreement, there is no basis for an award of attorney fees for either the trial or appellate prosecution of an action for indemnity.") (citing *Opa Locka*, 368 So. 2d at 416)); *Snider*, 519 So. 2d at 13. Again, these cases are inapplicable because in this case, Hartford's right to attorney's fees arises from both statute and agreement, i.e. Section 627.428; the GIA; and Lumbermens' policy.

In this case, Hartford occupies three positions that none of the insurers in the above cases occupy: (1) a first party claimant against Lumbermens' policy standing in the shoes of Ryan through equitable subrogation; (2) a first party claimant against Lumbermens' policy as an assignee of Ryan's claims against Lumbermens' policies; and (3) a third party claimant against the Lumbermens' policy as Ryan's contractual and common law indemnitee.

# A. Hartford's Status as Ryan's Equitable Subrogee Entitles it to Recovery of its Attorney's Fees in this Action

The GIA obligates Ryan to pay Hartford's fees in pursuing this claim. Paragraph III of the GIA states:

> The Indemnitors will indemnify and hold the Surety harmless from all loss, liability, damages and expenses including, but not limited to, court costs, interest and attorney's fees, which the Surety incurs or sustains (1) because of having furnished any Bond, or (2) because of the failure of an Indemnitor to discharge any obligations

under this Agreement, or (3) in enforcing any of the provisions of this Agreement.

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